BEFORE THE OFFICE OF JUDGES/ HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY

RE: STONEWALL JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, COMPANY  
CON File No. 21-7-12157-H  
A.P. Docket No. 22-HC-03

BRIEF FILED ON BEHALF OF  
STONEWALL JACKSON MEMORIAL  
HOSPITAL, COMPANY

Submitted by:

Thomas G. Casto, (W.Va. Bar No. 676)  
**Lewis Glasser PLLC**  
300 Summers Street, Suite 700  
Post Office Box 1746  
Charleston, West Virginia 25301  
(304) 345-2000 – telephone  
(304) 343-7999 – facsimile  
[tcasto@lewisglasser.com](mailto:tcasto@lewisglasser.com)

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

This case involves an appeal from a decision of the West Virginia Health Care Authority (“the Authority”) denying an application (“the Application”) for a certificate of need filed by Stonewall Jackson Memorial Hospital, Company (“Stonewall”) pursuant to the provisions of W. Va. Code § 16-2D-1 *et seq.* The decision was issued by the Authority on June 13, 2022 (“the Decision”). Stonewall sought a certificate of need to construct a replacement hospital in Lewis County, West Virginia. St. Joseph’s Hospital of Buckhannon (“St. Joe”), a critical access hospital (“CAH”) located in Upshur County was designated by the West Virginia Health Care Authority (“the Authority”) as an affected person in the matter and appears here. The Decision was appealed to the Office of Judges/ Health Care Authority (“OOJ”) by filing a Request for Review on July 8, 2022. The filing was acknowledged by the OOJ by email also on July 8. Thereafter, the OOJ set a briefing schedule in this matter. This Brief is submitted pursuant to that schedule.

## **II. ARGUMENT**

### **A. Issues involved**

The issue that is the subject of this appeal is very limited. The Authority’s denial of the Stonewall certificate of need application outlined in the Decision was limited solely to the criteria contained in W.Va. Code § 16-2D-12(b)(1), which provides that:

(b) The authority may not grant a certificate of need unless, after consideration of the appropriateness of the use of existing facilities within this state providing services similar to those being proposed, the authority makes each of the following findings in writing:

(1) That superior alternatives to the services in terms of cost, efficiency and appropriateness do not exist within this state and the development of alternatives is not practicable. W.Va. Code § 16-2D-12(b)(1).

The Authority's finding on this issue is contained in two passages in the Decision. The first deals generally with the issue of the superior alternative:

While the proposed project may be the superior alternative in terms of cost, efficiency, and appropriateness as it relates to Stonewall, the review of the project does not end with the Applicant. The Authority must also determine whether the proposed project is the superior alternative as it relates to an Affected Person and the citizens of the State of West Virginia. *See* W. Va. Code § 16-20-1. Decision p. 37.

The second section deals with the issue more specifically:

The Authority finds that Stonewall's proposed project would cause SJB to lose its CAH status which would have a significant detrimental financial effect on SJB. The evidence of record showed that the loss of CAH status would result in SJB suffering significant annual monetary losses. Stonewall produced no evidence from WVUHS that it would supplement any financial losses incurred by SJB.

The Authority further finds that Stonewall has not proved that the development of alternatives is not practicable. Stonewall admitted it had not explored other sites for the project other than the proposed location. (Exhibit 23, p. 54). Stonewall produced no evidence that it had completed a market analysis of the surrounding area to determine if any other suitable property might exist. The burden of proof is on the Applicant to show that the development of alternatives to the project are not practicable. Stonewall has failed to meet this burden. Decision p. 38-39.

Both provisions are made in error with the errors being of both fact and law.

**B. The Authority wrongfully relied on W. Va. Code § 16-2D-1**

The first general finding quoted above cites W. Va. Code § 16-2D-1 as support for the finding. W. Va. Code § 16-2D-1 provides:

(1) That the offering or development of all health services shall be accomplished in a manner which is orderly, economical and consistent with the effective development of necessary and adequate means of providing for the health services of the people of this state and to avoid unnecessary duplication of health services, and to contain or reduce increases in the cost of delivering health services.

(2) That the general welfare and protection of the lives, health and property of the people of this state require that the type, level and quality of care, the feasibility of providing such care and other criteria as provided for in this article, including certificate of need standards and criteria developed by the authority pursuant to provisions of this article, pertaining to health services within this state, be subject to review and evaluation before any health services are offered or developed in order that appropriate and needed health services are made available for persons in the area to be served.

W. Va. Code § 16-2D-1.

This section provides no support for the Authority's cited finding. The proposal in this matter involved Stonewall replacing its aging facility that is presently located on the western side of Weston, Lewis County with a new facility to be located on the eastern side of Weston, Lewis County. Both locations were within Lewis County, one of the two counties in Stonewall's service area. The reasons for the relocation were well addressed in the hearing by Stonewall's Chief Administrative Officer, Kevin Stalnaker. The major reasons Stonewall chose the proposed location was that it provided easy access to the citizens of Stonewall's service area, it was located in an area where other economic develop as well as required infrastructure was present, and the nature of the building site lowered costs involved with the construction. *See* Tr. p. 15-16, 20-21, 56-59.

It is against that backdrop that the Authority ruled that the provisions of W. Va. Code § 16-2D-1 supported its ruling denying the Application. W. Va. Code § 16-2D-1 provides no support and does not allow the Authority to essentially choose the location of a hospital when the proposed new site is within the present service area of the existing hospital. Subsection (1) deals with the Authority's powers to prevent the unnecessary duplication of services. The services in this matter are already existing services that are simply being relocated. No services are being duplicated, unnecessarily or not, they are merely being relocated. Subsection (2) provides for a review so "that appropriate and needed health services are made available for persons in the area to be served."

The Application proposed a new hospital facility to better served the citizens of Stonewall' service area, making needed health services available and accessible to those who need them. St. Joe's is in Upshur County, not in the same service area as Stonewall. Further, as a CAH, St. Joe's does not provide the same level of services as a community hospital like Stonewall. There are several restrictions placed upon CAH's, such as the length of stay for inpatients, that are not placed upon community hospitals like Stonewall. The Authority claims its ruling is to protect the citizens of the sole county in St. Joe's service area, Upshur County, however, the new hospital will not be in Upshur County. It is proposed to be in Weston, Lewis County and planned and proposed to provide services to those citizens in the Stonewall service area, Lewis and Gilmer Counties. Further, the new facility is not adding any services or duplicating existing ones. It is merely relocating existing services to a different side of Weston. W. Va. Code § 16-2D-1 provides no support to the Authority's ruling in this matter and the Authority's reliance on it to support a finding that the proposed new location is not the superior alternative is incorrect and in error. As a result, the Decision is clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record and is, as a result, arbitrary and capricious.

**C. The HCA wrongfully found that the proposal is not the superior alternative**

Later in the Decision, "[t]he Authority further finds that Stonewall has not proved that the development of alternatives is not practicable. Stonewall admitted it had not explored other sites for the project other than the proposed location. (*Exhibit 23, p. 54*). Stonewall produced no evidence that it had completed a market analysis of the surrounding area to determine if any other suitable property might exist. The burden of proof is on the Applicant to show that the development of alternatives to the project are not practicable. Stonewall has failed to meet this burden." *See* Decision, p. 38-39.

This finding is incorrect and in error. As discussed below, the finding adds a requirement that must be met by Stonewall that is not contained in anywhere in W. Va. § 16-2D-1 et seq. or the applicable Certificate of Need Standards. However, the ruling and Decision are incorrect and made in error before the extra requirement is even examined. W. Va. Code § 16-2D-12 provides that before an application can be approved and a certificate of need be granted, the Authority must find that the proposal is needed and consistent with the State Health Plan. See W. Va. Code § 16-2D-12(a). The Authority found that the project was needed. The section the of the State Health Plan applicable to this appeal is the Renovation-Replacement of Acute Care Facilities and Services chapter of the Certificate of Need Standards (“the Standards”). The Standards contain all the requirements that must be met by an applicant. The Authority found the project to be consistent with all the requirements in the Standards.<sup>1</sup>

First, the Authority ruled that “Stonewall has not proved that the development of alternatives is not practicable.” There is evidence regarding the review of alternatives in the Application and the record. The many reasons why the old facility needed to be replaced and not renovated was in both the Application and the record. The suitability of the proposed site for the new hospital as well as the reasons it was chosen outlined in the Application and in Stalnaker’s testimony. Further, in Stonewall’s case-in-chief, Stalnaker discussed the multiple other sites that St. Joe’s claimed were more superior to the proposed site, specifically noting the deficiencies with each proposed site. See Hearing Transcript pages 14-16, 19-21, 33-34, 54-62. Stalnaker discussed his familiarity with all of the locations proposed by St. Joe’s at the hearing showing that the reasons the alternative sites were not superior to the proposed site and were not practicable to develop a

---

<sup>1</sup> The application was also subject to and found to be consistent with the Operating Room chapter of the Certificate of Need Standards.

new hospital facility. That testimony clearly showed that the other locations were (1) known to Stonewall, and (2) were not deemed by Stonewall to even be worth exploring for the various reasons stated in the testimony. The predominant reason was that the other locations, some of which were not even available for sale, were in areas where no utility services or infrastructure were available, or the locations were in mountainous areas which would lead to astronomical increases in the construction costs of the hospital or both. Thus, there were other locations for the new hospital that would have avoided the loss of CAH status to St. Joe's, but those locations would have added to the cost of a new facility for Stonewall. As argued in the Briefs filed before the Authority, Stonewall does not believe that adding millions to the cost of its new facility by building it on an uninhabited mountain side in an area of Lewis County where there are no other services, utilities or adequate roads to be the superior alternative. This is especially true when St. Joe's had various alternatives that were noted in discovery and in testimony that were available to it to either maintain its CAH status or manage the hospital in such a way that the loss was not a cause for its closure.

W.Va. Code § 16-2D-12(b)(1) requires that there be evidence in the record demonstrating "that superior alternatives to the services in terms of cost, efficiency and appropriateness do not exist within this state and the development of alternatives is not practicable." There is such evidence in the record. The Authority's conclusion otherwise is incorrect and in error.

Further, as quoted above, the Authority added an additional requirement on Stonewall. It noted that "Stonewall produced no evidence that it had completed a market analysis of the surrounding area to determine if any other suitable property might exist." *See* Decision, p. 39. There is no requirement of a market analysis as a part of the proof needed to demonstrate "that superior alternatives to the services in terms of cost, efficiency and appropriateness do not exist

within this state and the development of alternatives is not practicable.” W.Va. Code § 16-2D-12(b)(1). The requirement of a market analysis is not contained in the statute or the Standards. Such a requirement is added without statutory basis. More importantly, the Authority found that such an analysis should have been offered to show that no other suitable property might exist. As noted, there is testimony in the record from Stonewall’s CAO that such property did not exist. The Authority’s ruling requires Stonewall to demonstrate that no other suitable locations exist for a new facility, which it did, but to do so in a particular manner that is not required in any statute, Standard or even past decisions. Such a ruling makes Stonewall’s burden of proof in this matter a moving target. Between the Application and the testimony at the hearing, Stonewall demonstrated that the chosen location was superior and that any other proposed locations were either not available, not suitable for very specific, stated reasons or bot. Yet that was not sufficient for the Authority, so an additional requirement of a market analysis was added. The finding that Stonewall did not demonstrate the superiority of the chosen location is in error and the addition of the requirement for a market analysis is in error.

The impact of these errors become clearer when the rest of the Decision, as well as a past decision by the Authority, is examined in more detail. First, in this Decision, the Authority ruled that Stonewall’s proposal is not the superior alternative as discussed above, but also found that the project is needed, consistent with the Accessibility section of the Standards (*See* Decision p. 26) as well as finding that there are no existing facilities providing services similar to those proposed in the service area. *See* Decision p. 39. Thus, the Decision denying the application is solely based upon the adverse impact the proposal will have on St. Joe’s. However, that ruling is made by the Authority while at the same time finding that Stonewall’s proposal is needed and will have no significant impact on the accessibility to health care services in both of the service area counties

as well as in Upshur County. *Decision* p. 26. The Authority further found that there are no existing facilities providing services similar to the proposal. *Decision* p. 39. The first finding recognizes that accessibility to health care services, one of the key public policy reasons for the Authority to exist as expressed in W.Va. § 16-2D-1, will not be impacted by this proposal, even in the highly unlikely event that St. Joe's does not continue to exist. The second finding recognizes that Stonewall and St. Joe's are not similar facilities and are not in the same service area. Yet the Authority ruled that Stonewall cannot construct a needed replacement facility in the location that best serves those it is charged with serving because a facility located in another one, which does not provide the full range of acute care hospital services, will be impacted. The result is that the proposal was denied by the Authority based solely on the fact that the proposed location for a community-based, full service acute care hospital will adversely impact a CAH not located in Stonewall's service area. That ruling was made while the Authority also found that the entire matter, including the construction of Stonewall's new hospital and the remote possibility of the closure of St. Joe's, will have no impact on the accessibility to health care services for anyone in either service area.

Further, the Authority's ruling does not comply with the public policy announced in W.Va. § 16-2D-1. The decision is not made "in a manner which is orderly, economical and consistent with the effective development of necessary and adequate means of providing for the health services of the people of this state and to avoid unnecessary duplication of health services." W.Va. Code § 16-2D-1. The Decision punishes the citizens of Lewis and Gilmer Counties while protecting a facility in Upshur County, when the Authority also ruled that the new hospital was needed and would not adversely impact access to health care services in the service area counties or in Upshur County. These findings are internally inconsistent and are in error.

Further, the Decision is diametrically opposed to one made in a very similar, if not identical matter decided by the Authority. In the matter involving United Hospital Center's proposal to relocate its facility from downtown Clarksburg, WV, to a location in Bridgeport, the Authority came to a totally different decision. *See* CON File, *Exhibit 20*, Attachment 6. United proposed to move the hospital from a downtown Clarksburg location to one on Interstate 79, like Stonewall's proposed location. The new location was in a growing area of Harrison County, like Stonewall's proposed location. However, like Stonewall's proposal the new location was closer to Fairmont General Hospital ("FGH"), another acute care facility located in Marion County, and would have, and in fact did, have a detrimental economic impact on FGH. In that case, the Authority made a similar finding regarding the Accessibility requirement in the Replacement Standards<sup>2</sup>. *See* CON File, *Exhibit 20*, Attachment 6, p. 54-55. In fact, the finding was more specific than the one in this matter, specifically mentioning the area between Morgantown and Bridgeport, which includes Marion County. Like here, the Authority also made a finding that there were no existing facilities providing services similar to those proposed in the service area, thus limiting the analysis to the service area and ignoring a facility located only a few miles away, but in another service area. *See* CON File, *Exhibit 20*, Attachment 6, p. 70. However, unlike this matter, the Authority ruled that the United Hospital Center proposal was the superior alternative, despite the adverse economic impact it would have on FGH. *See* CON File, *Exhibit 20*, p. 68-70. The findings in this matter are inconsistent with the findings in that matter, which had the same material facts, and the result is a Decision that is in error and is inconsistent with past Authority decisions. As a result, the Decision is clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record, and is characterized by abuse of and clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion and is, as a result,

---

<sup>2</sup> The Replacement Standards applied in the United Hospital Center case have since been amended, but the Accessibility section has remained unchanged.

arbitrary and capricious.

**E. The Authority's Review was not balanced and  
failed to take all evidence into account**

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