IN RE: STONEWALL JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL COMPANY CON File No. 21-7-12157-H APPEAL DOCKET No. 22-HC-03

# RESPONSE BRIEF ON BEHALF OF APPELLEE ST. JOSEPH'S HOSPITAL OF BUCKHANNON, INC.

JAMES W. THOMAS ALAINA N. CRISLIP JACKSON KELLY PLLC 500 Lee Street East, Suite 1600 Post Office Box 553 Charleston, WV 25322

Counsel for: St. Joseph's Hospital of Buckhannon, Inc. d/b/a St. Joseph's Hospital

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

# A. The Authority's conclusion that Stonewall failed in its burden of proof on the superior alternatives issue under W. Va. Code § 16-2D-12(b)(1) was supported by substantial evidence or a rational basis, was consistent with applicable law, and must be upheld.

W. Va. Code § 16-2D-12 outlines the minimum criteria that an applicant must

address under the CON law. The Authority concluded that Stonewall's application did not comply

with the following statutory criterion:

(b) The authority may not grant a certificate of need unless, after consideration of the appropriateness of the use of existing facilities within this state providing services similar to those being proposed, the authority makes each of the following findings in writing:

(1) That superior alternatives to the services in terms of cost, efficiency and appropriateness do not exist within this state and the development of alternatives is not practicable;

W. Va. Code § 16-2D-(b)(1). Hence, Stonewall not only had the burden of proof to demonstrate that its Project was the superior alternative in terms of cost, efficiency, and appropriateness, but also that the development of such an alternative was not practicable. Both aspects of this statutory provision involve questions of fact. The vast majority of Stonewall's Brief simply implores this Court to reweigh factual evidence that was already presented to, and considered by, the Authority. But as outlined in the scope of review discussion, *infra*, this Court does not sit as an original

factfinder; its role with respect to the Authority's factual determinations, and inferences drawn from such factual determinations, is to determine whether they are supported by "substantial evidence or a rational basis." Syl. Pt. 1, *Muscatell*, 474 S.E.2d at 518; Syl Pt. 2, *Stewart*, 475 S.E.2d at 478; *Martin*, 465 S.E.2d at 406; *Cahill*, 539 S.E.2d at 440. If they are, substantial deference must be accorded to such factual determinations and inferences, and they must be upheld by this Court. *Id*.

# 1. Substantial evidence of record and/or a rational basis exists to support the Authority's finding that Stonewall failed to demonstrate its Project is the superior alternative in terms of cost, efficiency, and appropriateness.

At the public hearing, SJH submitted financial expert testimony, analysis, and reports; testimony from the President of SJH; health planning expert testimony; industry articles; and host of other evidence to demonstrate the havoc that the Project will wreak on SJH and Upshur County residents. *See, e.g.*, (Ex. 23, at pp. 126-142, 164-188, 167, 283, 306), (Ex. 21, at Attachments O, T, U, W). A brief summary of this evidence and pertinent facts follows.

Originally founded in 1921, SJH is a 25-bed critical access hospital ("CAH") with 16 skilled nursing facility beds, located in Buckhannon, Upshur County.<sup>5</sup> (Ex. 23, at p. 164); (Ex. 21, Attachment W, at p. 1253). SJH provides a full range of hospital services, including emergency room, laboratory, diagnostic, imaging, primary care, and various specialty care services (such as surgery, cardiology, rheumatology, orthopedics, and ophthalmology).<sup>6</sup> (Ex. 23, at p. 163). SJH holds the same category of hospital license in West Virginia as does Stonewall. In fact, many of the services offered at SJH are identical to those offered at Stonewall. Any suggestion that SJH

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the fall of 2015, the Pallottine Missionary Sisters transferred ownership of SJH to United Hospital Center, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the West Virginia United Health System, Inc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> SJH primarily serves the residents of Upshur County, but also serves the residents of Lewis, Barbour, Gilmer, Braxton, Randolph, Tucker, and Webster Counties. *See, e.g.*, (Ex. 20, Attachment 15, at pp. 1119-1165); *see also* (Ex. 23, at p. 165)

does not provide "similar" services to those being proposed by Stonewall is simply false.

CAH status is a designation made by the United States Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS"). This status enables a qualified rural hospital to be reimbursed on a cost-basis for providing services to Medicare and Medicaid patients. (Ex. 23, at p. 132). To qualify for CAH status, a hospital must, *inter alia*, not be located closer than 15 (mountainous terrain) miles from another hospital. 42 C.F.R. § 485.610(c); *see also* Ex. 23, at p. 167.<sup>7</sup>

The CAH program was implemented to address a rash of rural hospital closings across the county. (Ex. 23, at p. 166). Keith Seeloff, Partner at Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP<sup>8</sup> and an expert in health care finance, testified about the purpose and benefit of the CAH program. (Ex. 23, at pp. 133-134). Rather than being paid a pre-determined, fixed amount for hospital services under the Prospective Payment System ("PPS"), a CAH is paid primarily on the basis of the costs it incurs. *Id.* This results in a more favorable level of reimbursement for the CAH, and helps mitigate the dire financial and operational challenges that small, rural hospitals face in order to ensure the populations they serve continue to have access to care. *See id.* 

SJH operated as a PPS hospital until 2014. (Ex. 23, at p. 140; Ex. 21, Att. V). From the years of 2007 through 2013, SJH's financial health struggled mightily, experiencing a negative operating margin for five out of those seven years. *Id.* Upon examining SJH's bleak financial performance during those years, Mr. Seeloff testified that SJH was on the brink of bankruptcy in 2013 with only 21 days cash on hand. (Ex. 23, at pp. 140-141). However, in April of 2014, SJH was designated as a CAH. (Ex. 23, at p. 141; Ex. 21, Att. N, at p. 001188) Since that time, its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This was the method used by SJH to obtain its CAH designation. For some facilities, CAH designation may be obtained based on alternative criteria.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP is now known as FORVIS, LLP.

financial health has made a positive turn-around. Id.; (Ex. 21, at Att. V)

It is critical to understand that Stonewall's Application involves more than replacing the hospital's physical plant – it also contemplates relocating the hospital to the Proposed Site, which is approximately 4.2 miles away from its existing location. (Ex. 3, at Section C); *see* (Ex. 23, at p. 98). As detailed *infra*, Stonewall purchased both plots of land which constitute the Proposed Site in 2017, with full knowledge that SJH was designated as a CAH in 2014. (Ex. 23, at p. 141; Ex. 21, Att. N, at p. 001188); *see, e.g.*, (Ex. 23, at pp. 77-79). Stonewall's relocation to the new Proposed Site will undisputedly destroy SJH's ability to retain its CAH status because the Proposed Site is located approximately 11.8 miles away from SJH, which is closer than the 15-mile threshold necessary to qualify as a CAH. 42 C.F.R. § 485.610(c); (Ex. 23, at p. 167); Decision at p. 38. To be sure, SJH inquired with the West Virginia Office of Health Facility Licensure & Certification (OHFLAC) and CMS, and both entities confirmed that Stonewall's relocation to the Proposed Site would cause SJH to lose its CAH status. (Ex. 23, at p. 168); (Ex. 21, Attachment O, at p. 001190).

In order to quantify the impact that the loss of CAH status would have upon SJH, Mr. Seeloff and his team developed an in-depth financial feasibility report. (Ex. 23, at pp. 126, 139; Ex. 21, at Att. W). The first part of Mr. Seeloff's report involved the preparation of a six-year "base case" financial forecast for SJH (from the period of 2022 through 2027) to demonstrate SJH's projected financial performance in such years should SJH continue to operate as a CAH. (Ex. 23, at p. 127) To develop this "base case," Mr. Seeloff reviewed SJH's 2021-2026 budget, historical audited financial statements and cost reports, current strategic plan, and set of five-year financial projections prepared by SJH annually.<sup>9</sup> See id. Ultimately, Mr. Seeloff's "base case"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Mr. Seeloff made certain necessary adjustments to SJH's six-year financial projections, including adjustments reflecting SJH's actual operating results during FY2021, to account for an expected return to

financial forecast projected that – should SJH maintain its CAH status – it will remain profitable through 2027. (Ex. 21, Att. W, at p. 001249; Ex. 23, at p. 130).

The second part of Mr. Seeloff's report was an "impact analysis" to determine the financial impact of losing CAH status effective July 1, 2024, and reverting back to a PPS hospital on this same date. (Ex. 21, Att. W, at p. 001279; Ex. 23, at p. 131).<sup>10</sup> The "impact analysis" demonstrated a total reimbursement reduction of <u>\$14.476 million</u> from Medicare, Medicaid, and PEIA <u>in 2019 alone</u>, a figure which Mr. Seeloff affirmed will only increase over time. (Ex. 23, pp. 136-137) This reimbursement impact was then applied throughout the "base case" six-year forecast period from 2022 to 2027, reflecting a shift from CAH to PPS reimbursement effective July 1, 2024. (Ex. 21, Att. W, at p. 001275). Ultimately, the impact analysis demonstrated that, beginning in 2025, SJH was projected to become unprofitable as a PPS hospital, with an annual loss of almost \$8.9 million by 2027. *Id.* Mr. Seeloff testified that, based on this impact analysis, losing CAH status would adversely affect the long-term viability of SJH:

- Q. So Mr. Seeloff, let me ask you, what conclusions do you draw from your own report here today?
- A. That losing critical access designation for Saint Joseph's Hospital would --- would significantly impact their financial performance.

pre-COVID cost-to-charge ratios, and to encompass a five percent increase for wage inflation (which was based on SJH's experience and current trends in the health care industry). See (Ex. 21, Att. W, pp. 001255-001271); see also (Ex. 23, at pp. 129-130). Mr. Seeloff did not make any substantial changes to SJH's projected patient utilization assumptions in developing the "base case" financial forecast. Id. <sup>10</sup> Mr. Seeloff calculated changes to SJH's reimbursement as a PPS hospital for traditional Medicare inpatients and outpatients, Medicare Advantage inpatients and outpatients, Medicare swing-bed patients, Medicaid traditional inpatients and outpatients, Medicaid managed care inpatients and outpatients, and West Virginia Public Employees Insurance Agency ("PEIA") inpatients and outpatients. (Ex. 21, Att. W, at p. 001279; Ex. 23, at pp. 135-136) Mr. Seeloff also reviewed Medicare cost reports, SJH-supplied data, as well as comparisons to peer group rural West Virginia PPS hospitals (including Wetzel County Hospital, Stonewall, Reynolds Memorial Hospital, Pleasant Valley Hospital, and Davis Memorial Hospital) to formulate the impact analysis. (Ex. 21, Att. W, at pp. 001279, 01297-1298). The report also considered other reimbursement nuances, including the 340B Drug Pricing Program and the Direct Payment Program. (Ex. 21, Att. W). Mr. Seeloff also utilized SJH's 2019 (pre-COVID) figures as a basis to measure the variance between PPS and CAH status, and as a corollary, to determine the basis of the impact on SJH's reimbursement due to loss of CAH status in future years. (Ex. 23, at p. 137).

- Q. The financial projections you have done at the PPS hospital over the long term, could that result in the closure of the hospital?
- A. Yes, it could.

1.1.1

(Ex. 23, at pp. 141-142). Stonewall offered no competing or contradictory evidence to Mr. Seeloff's report. In fact, Stonewall's own financial expert identified in its prehearing list of witnesses declined to testify at the hearing.

Mr. Seeloff's conclusions are historically supported by the struggles of SJH as a PPS hospital. (Ex. 21, Att. V, at p. 001243). Skip Gjolberg, President of SJH, testified that he agreed with Mr. Seeloff's conclusions, and made the following grim prediction about what loss of CAH status will mean to SJH's continued viability:

- Q. ... Now based upon your experience in working in rural healthcare and operating critical access hospitals and working in critical access hospitals, do you agree or disagree with the --- with the analysis presented by Mr. Seeloff here today about the financial impact of the loss?
- A. Absolutely. I believe it would be --- it would be disastrous for us to lose our status . . .

\* \* \* \*

A. ... I mean we would do everything that we could do, but I think it would end up eventually leading to the closure [of SJH].

(Ex. 23, at pp. 168-169).

The conclusions of Mr. Seeloff and Mr. Gjolberg were echoed by a Health Affairs

article titled "Minimum-Distance Requirements Could Harm High-Performing Critical-Access

Hospitals And Rural Communities" submitted into evidence:

[L]oss of critical-access status and cost-based reimbursement could have

potentially devastating financial consequences for many critical-access hospitals . . . A substantial reduction in financial support could lead to a renewal of the high rural hospital closure rates of the 1990s, with concomitant deleterious effects on the health of these communities . . . If financially vulnerable critical-access hospitals were to close, residents of many areas would experience increased travel time to a different hospital.

(Ex. 21, Att. T, at pp. SJHB001237-SJHB001238). SJH further submitted evidence demonstrating that this prospect is not some far-fetched hypothesis. In fact, in December of 2014, Pioneer Community Hospital of Newton, Mississippi closed after losing CAH status due to no longer being able to meet applicable distance requirements. (Ex. 21, Att. U). The hospital stated that losing CAH status "[made] the operation of the hospital no longer financially feasible." *Id.* 

In sum, a substantial evidence was presented to demonstrate that Stonewall's selection of the Proposed Site as the location to build its replacement hospital will adversely affect the continued viability of SJH, and as testified by Mr. Seeloff and Mr. Gjolberg, could very realistically lead to SJH's closure. *See, e.g.*, (Ex. 23, at pp. 126-142, 164-188, 283, 306); (Ex. 21, Atts. O, T, U, W). SJH – an institution which has provided hospital services in Buckhannon for 101 years – could face extinction simply because Stonewall failed to consider any alternative location to Proposed Site. This, in turn, could leave Upshur County residents without a hospital.

The Authority extensively discussed the evidence detailed herein (including Mr. Secloff's analysis) in its Decision, and explicitly relied on this evidence to make its factual finding that the Project was not the superior alternative in terms of cost, efficiency, and appropriateness:

The Authority finds that the proposed project is not the superior alternative in terms of cost, efficiency and appropriateness . . . The Authority finds that Stonewall's proposed project would cause SJB to lose its CAH status which would have a significant detrimental financial effect on SJB. The evidence of record showed that the loss of CAH status would result in SJB suffering significant annual monetary losses.

Decision at pp. 37-38; see also Decision at p. 36. The Authority was imminently justified in

concluding that a bankrupted hospital would be neither cost effective nor an appropriate result for the citizens of Upshur County. Since there was "substantial evidence or a rational basis" for the Authority to find that Stonewall's relocation to the Proposed Site – and the resulting potential closure of SJH – was not the superior alternative in terms of cost, efficiency, and appropriateness, "substantial deference" must be accorded to the Authority's finding. Syl. Pt. 1, *Muscatell*, 474 S.E.2d at 518; Syl Pt. 2, *Stewart*, 475 S.E.2d at 478; *Martin*, 465 S.E.2d at 406; *Cahill*, 539 S.E.2d at 440.

2. Substantial evidence of record and/or a rational basis exists to support the Authority's finding that Stonewall failed to demonstrate that the development of alternatives is not practicable

As detailed above, W. Va. Code § 16-2D-12(b)(1) contains <u>two distinct</u> requirements that Stonewall must meet. The above analysis focused on Stonewall's failure to prove that its Project was a superior alternative in terms of cost, efficiency, and appropriateness. While Stonewall's failure to meet this requirement alone justified the Authority's denial of the Application, Stonewall further failed to prove that "the development of alternatives is not practicable," as also required by W. Va. Code § 16-2D-12(b)(1).

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